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PREFACE





 




The Story of Houston has not

proved an easy one to write. A city is in many respects a conglomeration of

units rather than an aggregate of unities. the units are of character so

varying that it is hard to reduce them to a common denominator. Municipal

consciousness is vague and much that happens in the development of a city seems

to be fortuitous rather than teleological. Yet Houston has in many respects

grown to formula and plan and has often responded heartily to conscious effort

made at improvement of conditions. The foundations of the past have been used

and effort has been often cumulative in results. Undeniably there is a

municipal spirit, an esprit du corps of the citizens that argues well for the

future of the town.




The plan followed in writing this

history has been to outline the beginnings of things, especially in the days of

the Republic, in a manner that in so far as possible follows the order in which

the events occurred. After Texas entered the Union the growth of the city is

incidentally shown in tracing the growth of the several institutions the

aggregate of whose history is the history of the city. The last chapter of the

book hinges in a manner directly on to the last chapter on the days of the Republic

and outlines the various periods in the municipal life, gives pen pictures of

the city at intervals of years, and recapitulates briefly the latest era of

greatest achievement.




The volume is true history in

that an appeal has been made directly to the sources of history. These have

been three; newspapers, there have been newspapers in Houston from the earliest

times and it began with a newspaper advertisement; the observations of

eye-witnesses as they were recounted in books, especially those of travel and

adventure, as to conditions in Houston; and the recollections of the citizens

themselves. A number of manuscript letters of Sam Houston and others were also

used.




Every extant number of the files

of the Telegraph, the Morning Star, the Houston Post and the Houston Chronicle

was carefully searched for data, an expert spending four months in going over

the newspaper files alone. Matter sufficient for the writing of five volumes

the size of this one was obtained and the question of the selection of data assumed

importance. Many facts and incidents are given as they are recalled in the

memories of old citizens who had personal knowledge of the facts or who

participated in the events.




A number of the chapters were

written by Dr. S. O. Young, whose family belongs to the earliest settlers and

who often writes from personal recollections of events occurring within the

last half century. Dr. Young was at one time the editor of the Houston Post,

was later the managing editor of the Galveston News and has a wide acquaintance

with both local and Texas history and is famed as a raconteur.




A number of chapters, including

all those of the period of the Republic and the chapter on the Wm. M. Rice

Institute, were written entirely by the editor.




Such statistics as are given

without reference to their source are those current in the newspapers of their

respective dates or such as are given by those in position to possess true

information.




This work may fairly lay claim to

the following negative merits:




There is not one line of its text

that is advertising. Such mention as is made of firms, persons or corporations

is absolutely gratuitous and is made because the editor believed that the

person, firm or corporation deserved such mention in fairly telling the story

of Houston.




There is no conscious or

deliberate padding of facts and figures or exaggeration of statement. The

editor feels great pride in Houston, but he has made no attempt to show the

city in a rosy glow.




There has been a careful

avoidance of the valley of dry bones of municipal politics. Dead issues have

been left in their moribund condition fully wrapped in their shrouds and

vestments. Only when such important matters as the beginning or ending of the

carpet bag government or the change from the old ward system of politics to the

commission form of government were to be noted have the issues of municipal

campaigns been noticed. Much more has there been an avoidance of state and

national politics.




In writing this history special

prominence has been given to the Rice Institute because this institution seems

certain to play a tremendous part in the city's future history. The sketch of

William M. Rice is the only one ever written and in preparing it the men who

had known him in his lifetime and his business activities were consulted for

information in their possession. It is believed to be a faithful portrayal of

the man who takes rank as Houston's greatest benefactor.




Growth in the future will be so

rapid that unless some measures are taken to preserve the city's early story it

might easily be lost.




Such a volume as the present one,

despite the care and trouble necessary to prepare it, necessarily appeals to a

circle of readers found within the list of the citizens of Houston itself,

together with a few outside students of economic or municipal conditions. It is

believed, however, that this book will be of interest and value to all lovers

of Houston and the editor chiefly deplores that he has found it impossible to

even name all the worthy men and women who have contributed to the growth and

prosperity of the city, and will be the first to admit that the services of

many here unnamed are worthy to take rank along with the highest and best of

those capitulated.




The editor cordially acknowledges

the aid and assistance rendered by newspaper writers, by musicians, by

architects and by others who have given counsel or advice on matters relating

to their professions or callings.




The work is submitted as a record

of the achievements of a city that is just three quarters of a century old. The

record is carried to a date that varies between February 28, 1911 and November

1, 1911, as the chapters went to press at varying dates. It is the wish of the

editor that it may prove to be worthy of the friendly consideration of those

who love Houston and believe in her future.




Nov. 21, 1911. 




THE EDITOR. 




 


















 




CHAPTER I - Settlement

and Pioneer Life




 




HOUSTON, a Monument to Real

Estate Promoters' Art. First Built on Paper and Advertised all over America.

Prohibitive Prices of Land at Harrisburg Caused Choice of Houston's Site.

Foresight of A. C. and J. K. Allen. The First Steamer up the Bayou. City Mapped

and Plotted. Rivalry with Harrisburg. Founding of Harrisburg. Geological

Formation of Harris County. Early Social Conditions. Fights and Murders. Civil

Officers, Laws and Justice. Building Court House and Jail. First Court Trials,

First Wedding, First Divorce. City's Mayors under the Republic. Much Litigation

and Many Land Frauds.




 




Houston is a splendid monument to

the success of the real estate promoter's art. Other cities have prospered

Topsy wise. They just grew. A lucky place at a cross roads, a river bend or a

mountain pass where they might catch the drift from the tides of travel and by

the simple process of accretion or the fortuitous concourse of human atoms a

city came into being. Not so Houston. Its site was selected by promoters, it

was mapped and planned ere ever a house was built, its advantages were touted

in the national press and it has performed the singular feat of growing largely

according to the plans and specifications originally laid out for its

development and has surpassed the most “whopping” predictions as to its growth

and prosperity.




All the stage wits and travelling

vaudeville artists use Harrisburg as the target for their country village jokes

and yet curiously enough it was the prohibitive price of land in Harrisburg

that caused Houston to be chosen and built. The promoters recognized the

obvious fact that Harrisburg is a better place for a city than Houston and

tried to buy there but the owners of the proposed townsite were greedy and

hence a site farther up the river was chosen.




By a deed of the date of August

26, 1836, and for a recited consideration of $5,000, two New York speculators,

the brothers A. C. and J. K. Allen, purchased of Mrs. T. F. L. Parrott the

south half of the lower of the two leagues of land granted to John Austin, near

the head of tide water on Buffalo Bayou. It was immediately put on the market

as a townsite. The first formal announcement is an advertisement published in

the “Columbia Telegraph” of the date of August 30, 1836. It reads:




 




 “The Town of Houston,




“Situated at the head of

navigation on the west bank of Buffalo river is now for the first time brought

to public notice, because, until now, the properties were not ready to offer to

the public, with the advantages of capital and improvements.




“The town of Houston is located

at a point on the river which must ever command the trade of the largest and

richest portion of Texas. By reference to the map it will be seen that the

trade of San Jacinto, Spring Creek, New Kentucky, and the Brazos, above and

below Fort Bend, must necessarily come to this place, and will at this time

warrant the employment of at least $1,000,000 of capital, and when the rich

lands of this country shall be settled, a trade will flow to it, making it,

beyond all doubt, the great interior commercial emporium of Texas.




“The town of Houston is distant

15 miles from the Brazos river, 30 miles a little north of east from the San

Felipe, 60 miles from Washington, 40 miles from Lake Creek, 30 miles south-west

from New Kentucky and 15 miles by water and 8 or 10 by land above Harrisburg.




“Tide water runs to this place

and the lowest depth of water is about 6 feet. Vessels from New Orleans to New

York can sail without obstacle to this place, and steamboats of the largest

class can run down to Galveston Island in 8 or 10 hours in all seasons of the

year.




 “It is but a few hours sail down

the bay, where one may make excursions of pleasure and enjoy the luxuries of

fish, fowl, oysters and sea bathing.




“Galveston Harbor, being the only

one in which vessels drawing a large draft of water can navigate, must

necessarily render the island the great naval and commercial depot of the

country.




“The town of Houston must be the

place where arms, ammunitions and provisions for the government will be stored,

because, situated in the very heart of the country, it combines security and

means of easy distribution, and a national armory will no doubt very soon be at

this point.




“There is no place in Texas more

healthy, having an abundance of excellent spring water, and enjoying the sea

breeze in all its freshness.




“No place in Texas possesses so

many advantages for building, having fine ash, cedar and oak in inexhaustible

quantities, also the tall and beautiful magnolia grows in abundance. In the

vicinity are fine quarries of stone.




“Nature appears to have

designated this place for the future seat of government. It is handsome and

beautifully elevated, salubrious and well watered and now in the very heart or

center of population, and will be so for a length of time to come.




“It combines two important

advantages—a communication with the coast and foreign countries and with the

different portions of the Republic. As the country shall improve, railroads

will become in use and will be extended from this point to the Brazos and up

the same, and also from this up to the headwaters of San Jacinto, embracing

that rich country, and in a few years the whole trade of the upper Brazos will

make its way into Galveston Bay through this channel.




“Preparations are now making to

erect a water saw mill and a large public house for accommodation will soon be

opened. Steamboats now run in this river and will in a short time commence running

regularly to the island.




“The proprietors offer the lots

for sale on moderate terms to those who desire to improve them, and invite the

public to examine for themselves.




Signed A. C. ALLEN, for A. C.

& J. K. Allen.




August 30, 1836, 6 m. 




 




 “The Commercial Bulletin of New

Orleans, Mobile Advertiser, The Globe at Washington, Morning Courier and New

York Enquirer, New York Herald and Louisville Public Advertiser are requested

to make 3 insertions of this advertisement and forward their bills to this office

for payment.”




How familiar it all sounds.

Houston boosters ever since then have been consciously or unconsciously

plagiarizing that model and brilliantly worded advertisement of the unborn

city.




Land in Texas was inexhaustible

and cheap, and it is startling only to think of the sheer nerve of the Allen

Brothers in buying a large segment of a virgin wilderness on the banks of a

brush grown bayou and deliberately starting out to make a great city there and

to make it the capital of a new nation and then to advertise it all over a

foreign country, for the United States was then a foreign country. Not only did

the Allen Brothers start out to work this miracle but they actually

accomplished it. Within a year's time this city of paper and tents was the

capital of Texas and was entertaining distinguished men from many parts of the

world.




Like most promoters, the Allens

strained the facts a bit, but the facts could stand the strain. Communication

with the coast and foreign countries was not of the best. It took four days to

traverse the distance from Harrisburg to Houston by boat and only a bridle path

traversed the jungle that intervened between the two points by land.




When the new city was first

announced, Dr. Pleasant W. Rose of a neighboring town with a party visited the

site of the city. They found “one dug out canoe, a bottle gourd of whiskey, a

surveyors chain and compass and a grove inhabited by four men camping in

tents.”




Low hanging trees and snags in

the bayou made progress slow by water. Francis R. Lubbock, one of the earliest

and most prominent citizens, who was later Governor of Texas, “discovered

Houston,” in January, 1837. The little steamer on which he came up the bayou

required three days to make the trip from Harrisburg, a distance of 12 miles by

water. He says: “The slow time was in consequence of the obstructions we were

obliged to remove as we progressed. We had to rig what were called Spanish

windlasses on the shore, to heave the logs and snags out of our way, the

passengers all working faithfully. All hands on board would get out on the

shore, and cutting down a tree would make a windlass by boring holes in it and

placing it upon a support and throwing a bight of rope around it, secure one

end to a tree in the rear, and the other to the snags or fallen trees in the

water. Then by means of the capstan bars we would turn the improvised capstan

on land and draw from the track of the steamer the obstructions.”




The saddest part of it was that

even then the passengers came very near not finding the city. A party of them

took the yawl to try and find the landing but missed it and passed on until

they stuck in the brush in White Oak Bayou and then backed down until they

found wagon wheels and footprints in the mud bank at the waters edge and then

saw the stakes driven in the ground that indicated that Houston was there.




This steamer was the “Laura” and

was the first to ever reach the wharfless landing.




The Allen Brothers had the germ

of faith. It could not move mountains and hence the feature of beautiful

elevation in the advertisement was a trifle difficult to find, but it could and

did build cities.




The original plan of the city and

the map of it contemplated only 62 blocks, all on the south side of Buffalo

Bayou. Gail Borden, the man who subsequently discovered or invented condensed

milk, and T. H. Borden made the survey and map in 1836. The streets were given

the names they now hold except that Austin Street was then Homer Street and

LaBranch Street was then Milton Street. Homer Street had its name changed

within a short time in honor of Stephen F. Austin and Milton Street in honor of

Alcee LaBranch Charge d' Affairs from the United States and the first minister

to announce the recognition of Texas among the nations of the world. Epic poets

of Greece and England were thus forced to give place to American heroes and

statesmen:




Another map, made by Girard, of

the Texas Army, is now in the possession of John S. Stewart of Houston.




On the original map, block 31,

the present site of the court house, was set aside and marked court house, and

block 34, the present market square, was marked Congress Square.




John Allen, who selected the site

of Houston immediately following the Battle of San Jacinto, called the street

now traversed by the Houston and Texas Central Road, Railroad Street, saying,

“This is the street which the great Texas railroad will traverse. His foresight

was correct and his prophecy came true, but he died before the first locomotive

blew its whistle over the right of way. His death occurred in 1838.




On April 7, 1837, the townsite

was enlarged and a new map was drawn, extending one tier of blocks beyond Rusk

Street on the south, one tier beyond Crawford Street on the east and one tier

beyond Clay Street on the west. The square west of the Rice Hotel square on

Main Street was originally designated as Capitol Square but when the Capitol

building was erected in 1837 it occupied the site now occupied by the Rice

Hotel and soon to be occupied by the new 18-story Rice Hotel.




A little group of settlers, among

them the promoters of the town, settled in Houston during the year 1836. They

lived in tents. On January 1, 1837, the city was still one of tents although

Henry Allen had a small log house and several small houses were in course of

erection. Logs were being hauled in from the forest for a hotel on Franklin

Street at the corner of Travis, now occupied by the Southern Pacific building,

where the old Hutchins House stood for many years. Col. Benjamin Fort Smith

built the first hotel. He had been Inspector General at the Battle of San

Jacinto. All lumber was them sawed by hand and cost from $150 to $200 per

thousand feet. There was a saw mill at Harrisburg but some of the earliest

houses were built out of lumber that was shipped from Maine by water.




Most of those who came to the new

town stayed, possibly because it was practically impossible to get away. The

forests that surrounded Houston on every side were filled with abundance of

wild game. Bear, deer, antelope, buffalo, wild turkeys in great flocks, and large

herds of wild mustang horses roamed within a few miles. On the opposite side of

Buffalo Bayou several tribes of wild Indians were accustomed to camp in the

splendid forest, a custom which they kept up for several years after the

founding of the town.




The streets were broad paths

cleared by the axe, and bottomless with mud in wet weather. There were no

sidewalks. The tents and huts clustered on the banks of the steam or a few

blocks away. The town was still without a hotel, a court house, a jail or a church

in December, 1836. Even the saloons occupied large tents. The battle of San

Jacinto had been fought and won, but in Houston as elsewhere the inhabitants

were without money, without revenue, without credit and without many of the

most ordinary necessities of life. Cane brakes were burnt down and corn planted

on the charred ground brought forth good crops. Some of the inhabitants had

slaves, and cotton was early planted. Harrisburg was still the metropolis

because it had a saw mill and its saloons were housed in wood instead of

canvas. By December, 1836, the rivalry between the two places was keen, but

Houston was pulling for the honor of being selected as the seat of government

and aspired to be the capital of the new nation and the city destined to become

a nest of sky-scrapers and the most populous city of Texas was fairly launched.

One somehow wishes that its valiant yankee promoters could have seen a vision

of even the Houston of today with bird men soaring in aeroplanes around the

lofty buildings that serrate the city's skyline and give to it for the first

time that beautiful elevation of which the initial advertisement spoke.




Under the Mexican government, a

short time before the commencement of the Texas revolution in 1833 there had

been created the municipality of Harrisburg as a political subdivision.




This included the entire district

of which Harris county is only a part. For a short time the island of Galveston

also formed a part of Harrisburg County as the municipality was called under

the Republic after the Declaration of Independence in march, 1836, and

continued to be called for several years.




When Houston was founded this

section was sprinkled with settlers in all directions. A Mr. Knight and Mr.

Walter C. White at the time of Long's expedition in 1820 had burnt off a

canebrake and raised a crop of corn on the San Jacinto near its month, but

subsequently moved to Brazoria.




John Henry Brown in an article in

the Houston Post of December 17, 1891, gives a detailed account of the first

settlers largely from information from Mary J. Briscoe, of Houston, a daughter

of the John B. Harris who founded Harrisburg. He settled there in 1824, laid

out the town in 1826 and built the first steam saw mill in Texas for which he

received as a bounty two leagues of land. He was a merchant, a tanner and the

owner of a schooner whose name—“The Rights of Man,” reveals something of his

religious and political views. This schooner plied between Harrisburg and New

Orleans. In 1828, David, a brother of John B., arrived in Harrisburg and in

1830 William P. Harris and “Honest Bob” Wilson arrived, who were followed in

1832 by Samuel Harris, a fourth brother, all coming from Cayuga County, New

York.




Mary Jane Harris, a daughter of

the first settler, married Captain Andrew Briscoe, a colleague of the great

Mexican patriot, Don Lorenzo De Zavala, and was one of the early settlers in

Houston. Her daughter. Mrs. Adele B. Looscan, lives in Houston.




Perhaps the honor of being the

first settler in Houston should go to a Mrs. Wilkins, who, with her two

daughters and a son-in-law, Dr. Phelps, settled, in 1822, in territory now

within the city limits of Houston.




Harrisburg was the seat of

justice of the new Republic from March 22 to April 13, 1836. On the approach of

the Mexican Army it was abandoned and Santa Anna put it to the torch. The first

lone star flag made in Texas was improvised at Harrisburg in September, 1835,

by a Mrs. Dobson and other ladies. A Miss Troutman, of Georgia, gave a lone

star flag to Captain (later Colonel) William Ward, near the same time.




Following the battle of San

Jacinto the First Congress of the Republic met in Columbia and on December 15,

1836, selected the new town of Houston as the seat of government to continue

until 1840. The seat of government was moved to Houston just prior to May 1,

1837, and soon after—an event that proved to be even more important—the county

seat was moved from Harrisburg to Houston. Since that time Harrisburg has been

in a state of arrested development, a sleepy little town on the bayou, while

Houston has steadily grown until its city limits have been thrust into the very

heart of old Harrisburg and the turning basin and ship channel bid fair to give

back to that town, now de facto a part of Houston, the dignity and prosperity

it enjoyed three quarters of a century ago.




Harris County, in which Houston

and Harrisburg are now located has an elevation of from 50 to 75 feet above sea

level. Its surface is almost level with an almost imperceptible slope toward

the south. One-fifth of the surface is slightly undulating.




A scientific writer in an early

newspaper, who appears to know what he is talking about, says that the

geological formation is past tertiary and that below the surface there is a

layer of clay with streaks of calcareous nodules varying in color from white to

gray and yellow to red. In the northern part of the county below the clay there

is a stratum of sand, and in the southern part a moderately hard calcareous

sandstone in which springs originate. Water is found from a depth of 15 feet

upward and contains small quantities of lime, magnesia, chloride of sodium, and

other minerals with a trace of organic matter. The surface soil in the north is

a sandy earth and in the south a black waxy loam enriched with decomposed

organic matter. It is probable that there are large deposits of oil at a

considerable depth as oil has been found on nearly all sides of the county.




Most of the stirring events of

early Texas history center elsewhere than in Houston, although the actors in

those events were often residents of and visitors to the little new town on the

bayou. Where these events relate to Texas rather than to Houston history they

cannot even be categorized. San Jacinto had been fought before Houston was

founded, and the events of the following years were mainly those of frontier

growth all over Texas although the country was causing one of the prettiest

diplomatic webs to be woven in the history of the American continent and

England, France, Germany and other countries soon east covetous eyes upon the

new republic. The important years for the new town were from the middle of

April, 1837, to the latter part of 1839, during which time it was the seat of

government.




The years 1837 and 1838 were the

fat years of growth and prosperity for Houston and the year 1839 the lean year

of famine, pestilence and backset in Houston as elsewhere.




Government and the administration

of justice, occupied much of the time of the settlers in their isolated forest

town and, in a community where the key note was independence and where the

population was of the rough, hardy, self-reliant, courageous and opinionated

sort, neither government nor the administration of justice was easy. Every man

had infinite confidence in his own judgment and was always ready to back his

opinion with pistol or bowie knife if anybody doubted its correctness. The

duello was still an institution and quarrels and fights among the prominent

citizens were thoroughly a matter of course.




The army and the legal profession

and the government had made titles super-abundant and one could not fire a load

of buckshot into any group without crippling a few judges, colonels and majors

and as likely as not a general or a member of Congress or some cabinet

dignitary.




The cooped up condition, the

utter lack of news facilities and outside objects of interest, the sense of

military importance and the undeniable fact that a goodly per cent of the

population had left its former home moved by other motives than undiluted

enthusiasm for Texas and that another portion was far better at a fight than at

plowing corn, made for fractiousness and trouble. Government was largely

personal, the statesmen all quarrelled with each other outrageously and often

without adequate cause and partisanship ran high. All offices, both civil and

military, were elective and there was an active demand for rotation in office

so that everybody got honored with a few titles sooner or later. The multitude

of personal difficulties is illustrated in the following story by Governor

Lubbock which recounts conditions that have not entirely ceased in Houston even

at this day. “An occurrence at an early day shows how Houston failed to get a

carriage factory and lost at least one good immigrant. Charles Hedenberg, of

the firm of Hedenberg & Vedder, commission merchants, had induced an uncle

of his to come out from New Jersey with the view of establishing a carriage

manufactory. Arriving very early in the morning his trunks were taken to the

business house. About ten o'clock that day Hedenberg suggested to his uncle

that the Congress of the Republic was in session and that if he would go up to

the Capitol he might be entertained, and after a while they would go to the

house. While the Jersey man was seated in the Senate Chamber rapid firing took

place in the hall of the building which caused every one to rush out to see

what had occurred. The uncle was just in time to see the body of Senate Clerk

Thompson being borne away after having been badly shot up by Senate Clerk

Brashear. He had never seen a man shot before and rushed out of the building

going down Main Street on the west side. After walking several blocks he was

passing the Round Tent saloon when a soldier, who had just been shot by a man

named Seevy, rushed out and nearly fell upon him. Now thoroughly frightened he

dashed across to the other side of the street and just as he got over in front

of John Carlos' saloon, a man rushed out of the saloon door with his bowels

protruding from an immense gash inflicted on him by the bowie knife of a discharged

soldier. The visitor rushed to the commission store and gasped out an order for

his trunks to be put on a dray and sent to the boat for Galveston at once. The

nephew remonstrated. ‘Why Uncle, you have not had time to look at the town.’

The old man replied, ‘Charley, I have seen all I ever want to of Texas. Get my

trunks.”’




Government, as has been pointed

out, was the chief concern of the Texans. Harrisburg County was created by the

General Council at San Felice, but was not fully organized until 1837.




Captain Andrew Briscoe, elected

chief justice by the first Congress, held elections for precinct and county

officers who had their offices at the county seat at Harrisburg. Those elected

were: sheriff, John W. Moore; coroner, William Little; clerk of the district

court, James S. Holman; clerk of the county court. Dewitt Clinton Harris. By

the middle of 1837 Houston had captured the county seat from Harrisburg and the

county offices and most of the officials moved there.




The first court house and jail,

necessitated by the removal of the county seat, were built in 1837. The jail

was a log structure with a kind of upright log palisade as a part of it, but

the new court house was a two story frame building. They were built by Dr.

Morris S. Birdsall, the contractor with the county. The course of law did not

wait for their completion. The first instrument in writing in the Harrisburg or

Harris County records is a bond for title from Zadoc Hubbard to Lorenzo Brown

to make good and sufficient title to one-half of lot 10, block 21. The

instrument is dated February 22, 1837 and is recorded February 27. The site is

that of the store later occupied by W. D. Cleveland.




The first grand jury, which met

in the shade of some lopped off branches of trees on court house square, had B.

F. Smith as foreman and the following members: Edward Ray, B. Stencil, Abraham

Roberts, P. W. Rose, William Goodman, M. H. Bundic, William Burnett, John

Goodman, Sr., Freeman Wilkerson, Gilbert Brooks, Thomas Hancock, Allen Vince,

John Dunnam, John Earls, Elijah Henning, Andrew II. Long and James House, Sr.




Three indictments were brought in

at its first session: one against Whitney Britton for assault and battery, one

against John T. Beall for murder and a third against James Adams for larceny.

The results of the trials suggest with a grim sort of humor the mental attitude

of the people toward the several classes of offences. Whitney Britton's case

was dismissed as a triviality, the petit jury decided that John T. Beall had

done no more than they would have done under the circumstances and brought in a

verdict of justifiable homicide, but when the scoundrel James Adams, who had

stolen property instead of battering up the human form divine or taking human

life, came to trial, he met the full vigor of an outraged justice. He was found

guilty of theft, was ordered to make restitution to Lawrence Ramey of $295, and

the notes he was charged with having abstracted, and was further sentenced to

get 39 lashes on the bare back and be branded with the letter “T” in the right

hand. He would thus carry, graven in his palm the insignia that he was a thief,

as long as he lived.




The 39 lashes were to be laid on

by the sheriff in a public place on Friday, March 31, 1837, and it was so done.




In extenuation of the high value

attached to property and the low value set on life it should be remembered that

every man went armed and was supposed to be able to take care of himself and

that the citizens were living in an almost unproductive wilderness where

poverty was attended with great hardships.




The cases cited above were tried

at the first district court held in Houston which was presided over by Hon.

Benjamin C. Franklin.




All killers did not escape

punishment even at that early day however, and the first years of Harris County

might show a better record for legal executions for homicide than the last

decade. While the courts were yet young, two men were tried for murder. One, a

gambler named Quick, had killed a man with whom he was gambling, and the other,

named Jones, had killed a fellow soldier, Mandrid Wood, of the New Orleans

Grays. Judge J. W. Robinson, who had been lieutenant governor under the

provisional government in 1835–6, was on the bench and overruled all motions

for a new trial and thwarted all efforts for delay after the men had been tried

and convicted of murder. Everything had been done to prevent the sentence and

it was finally represented to the court that the jail was very insecure, the

weather quite cold and the men forced to wear irons for greater security

because of the weakness of the palisade jail. The judge was so touched by the

recital that he pronounced sentence that “the prisoners, in consequence of the

insecurity of the jail, the extreme cold weather and their uncomfortable

situation,” be hung on the Friday following, which was done in a clump of

timber that long bore the name of hangman's grove.




During 1837, Houston, which had

become both the seat of the county government and of the national government

became ambitious for yet more government as, counting citizens, state officials

and congressmen, there were nearly a thousand people in her environs, and so

early in June, Congress was persuaded to incorporate Houston as a city.

Organization was delayed several weeks which gave an opportunity for mass

meetings and protests which were greatly enjoyed by the citizens.




The first mayor was Francis

Moore, Jr., who did not assume office until the first Monday in January, 1838.

George W. Lively was mayor in 1839 and George H. Bringhurst was surveyor, an

office of importance where land titles and head were rights beginning to assume

importance. John D. Andrews became mayor in 1841 and in 1842 was re-elected. In

1843 Francis Moore was re-elected. Horace Baldwin succeeded him in 1844, and in

1845 W. W. Swain assumed the office which he held at the time of annexation.




Among the names of early aldermen

are found Captain R. P. Boyce, J. De Cordova, author of the First Handbook of

Texas, and Alexander McLewen.




Dr. Moore, the first mayor, was

for a long time the editor of the Telegraph, he and his partner, Jacob W.

Cruger, having established the first newspaper in Houston by the removal, early

in 1837 of the “Telegraph” from Columbia, the newspaper following the seat of

Government to Houston. Dr. Moore was afterwards state geologist and held many

prominent positions.




The first marriage license signed

under the law of the Republic was issued at Houston on July 22, 1837, signed by

DeWitt C. Harris, county clerk. It authorized Hugh McCrory to wed Miss Mary

Smith. The ceremoney was performed the following day by Rev. H. Matthews, a

Methodist minister. Mr. McCrory died within a few months and in 1840, his widow

married Dr. Anson Jones, afterwards the last president of the Republic of Texas

and perhaps the greatest diplomat of any man who ever held that office.




Mrs. Jones survived for many

years, dying on December 31, 1907, in Houston, and holding at the time of her

death the office of President of the Daughters of the Republic of Texas.




In 1905, the writer visited her

in Houston and heard from her lips many stories of the early history of Texas.

Her son, Judge Anson C. Jones was county judge for a number of years and many

relatives of note still live in Houston, among them Judge Charles E. Ashe, of

the 11th district court, a grandson.




Not until the 24th of March,

1838, was the first divorce granted at which time the gallant court relieved

Susan Williams from the matrimonial fetters that chained her to John Williams.




The court house was the center of

city life. At least one of the four pages of the early editions of the

newspapers in Houston was entirely given up to advertising sheriffs sales, and

other matters that centered around the court house.




On August 6, 1844, the two story

frame court house was sold to make room for what was described as a “palatial

structure,” the second of the seven buildings which have occupied court house

square. All of them have been palatial structures however, the last, recently

dedicated, costing about a half million dollars.




By December 4, 1839, there were

400 suits on the docket and a bell had been placed on the court house to

summons the citizens. Disputed land titles caused most of the suits. All kinds

of frauds were practiced by sharpers upon strangers and one green horn, fresh

from the States, purchased in good faith a head right to had alleged to have

been issued to Peter Ourang Outang. The papers were full of warnings but the

sharp practices flourished.




 


















 




CHAPTER II - Early Day

Amusements




 




Hunting, Fishing and Poker.

The Jockey Club and Horse Racing. Notable Dances, the San Jacinto Anniversary

Ball and Description of Sam Houston and Other Participants. A Festival Meal at

Houston's First Hotel. City's First Theatres and their Performances.




 




Hunting, fishing and fighting

were occupations so ordinary among the early inhabitants of Houston that one

does not know whether to rank them as amusements or ordinary matters of daily

routine.




Worlds of fish and game were to

be had and every man was an expert with shot gun and rifle. Wild turkey and

prairie chickens were in great favor as game birds but there were so many

varieties of the feathered tribe in the forests, including even gaudy

paroquets, that the great French naturalist Audobon, the most famous of

ornithologists was a visitor to Houston before the town was a year old. An

unflattering description of the town in his diary bears the date of May 4,

1837.




The Round Tent and other saloons,

mostly under canvas, provided abundance of cheap whiskey and furnished a

congregating place for the thirsty and the fractious. Poker, twenty deck poker,

faro, stud poker, and several Mexican card games were in full blast. At

elections the candidates would each have his open barrel of whiskey, and during

the campaign to open up a whiskey barrel and distribute tobacco was the

accepted popular method of electioneering.




One of the most wholesome

influences of the genesis of Houston was that of Masonry. Holland Lodge No. 1,

the mother of Texas lodges was organized in 1837. And by the middle of 1839

Temple Lodge No. 4, was in existence.




Masonry preceded the building of

churches in Houston for as late as October 14, 1839, the Morning Star complains

editorially that “In a city of 3,000 inhabitants and so much wealth there is no

place for public worship and not one resident minister.” There had been

preaching services prior to that time however and even congregations organized.




Nicholas Nickleby, which was

running as a serial in English papers and magazines was attracting wide

attention and being eagerly read in Texas, in 1839.




The Jockey Club was established

early and held spring and fall meetings at which racing flourished. Jack and

Shelby Smith and General Tom Green were breeders of racing stock and were known

as sporting men although the most of the horses that contested were the wiry

mustang ponies. At one of the meets, in a close finish, General Houston is said

to have cheered one of Colonel Green's mustangs on to victory and leaning over

the railing cried as the mare swept into the stretch: “A million on the mare.”

He was never called “Bet-you-a-million Houston” on that account however, and so

the title was left for another Texan by adoption, John W. Gates.




Dancing was in vogue and one of

the most memorable balls that was ever given occurred at Houston on April 21,

1837, the first anniversary of the battle of San Jacinto, when General Houston,

just elected president, and just returned from New Orleans, where he had gone

after the battle of San Jacinto that his wound might heal, was the leading

figure.




Other distinguished guests were

present in Houston and were doubtless present at that festivity which was held

just on the eve of the Second Session of the Congress of the Republic and the

first that was to be held in Houston.




The day had been made memorable

by the arrival of the first sailing vessel that ever reached Houston, the

schooner “Rolla,” which had taken four days to make the trip from Harrisburg

and had brought a crowd of visitors and guests, and by an Indian war dance

around the flag pole at the capitol.




General Houston was then a

widower, clothed about with all the romance that made him leave his young wife

and the governorship of Tennessee for some mysterious reason, and newly crowned

with the laurels of San Jacinto. He had a habit of whittling out of bits of

soft pine, little hearts, crosses and other emblems and giving them to the

ladies as souvenirs. Some of these whittled souvenirs are still cherished in

Houston today by descendents of some fair belle of the pioneer days of Texas.




The wierd contrast between the

primitive, crude surroundings and the fine apparal and culture of many of the

participants gave to the occasion a genre touch that has perhaps never been

surpassed. The scene of the festivities was on Main Street. Houston was still a

camp in the woods, its dwellers living mostly in white tents or shanties of

clapboards and pine poles. A large two story building, half finished, as yet

without a floor and without anything to cover the rafters between the first and

second story was the place selected for the dance. Pine boughs, vines, creeping

plants and clustered foliage were used to conceal the nakedness of the house

and give it a roof. This building stood on ground now occupied by the new wing

of the First National Bank and that was for many years occupied by the T. W.

House bank.




The following account of the ball

is signed “Texan,” and appears in many early publications including the Ladies'

Messenger, the Post, during the first year of its existance, and, in Governor

Lubbock's memoirs. It was written by Mrs. Adele B. Loosean, the daughter of

Mary Jane Briscoe, nee Harris.




“Chandeliers were suspended from

the beams overhead but they resembled the glittering ornaments of today in

naught save the use for which they were intended. Made of wood, with sockets to

hold the sperm candles and distributed at regular distances, each pendant

comprised five or six lights, which shed a dim radiance, but alas, also a

liberal splattering of sperm upon the dancers beneath. The floor being twenty

feet wide by fifty feet in length, could easily accommodate several cotillions,

and although the citizens of Houston were very few, all the space was required

for the large number who came from Brazoria, Columbia, San Felipe, Harrisburg,

and all the adjacent country. Ladies and gentlemen came in parties on horseback

distances of fifty and sixty miles, accompanied by men servants and ladies'

maids, who had in charge the elegant ball costumes for the important occasion.

From Harrisburg they came in large row boats, that mode of conveyance being

preferable to a horseback ride through the thick undergrowth, for at that time

there was nothing more than a bridle path to guide the traveller between the

two places.




“General Mosely Baker, one of

Houston's first citizens was living with his wife and child (now Mrs. Fannie

Darden) in a small house built of clapboards. The house comprised one large

room, designed to serve as parlor, bedroom and dining room, and a small

shedroom at the back. The floor, or rather the lack of floor in the large

apartment, was concealed by a carpet, which gave an air of comfort contrasting

strangely with the surroundings.




“As the time for going to the

ball drew near, which was as soon as convenient after dark, several persons

assembled at General Baker's for the purpose of going together. There were

General Houston, Frank R. Lubbock, and his wife, John Birdsall, (soon after

attorney-general) and Mary Jane Harris, (now the surviving widow of Andrew

Briscoe), General Houston was Mrs. Baker's escort, General Baker having gone to

see that some lady friends were provided for. When this party approached the

ball room, where dancing had already begun, the music, which was rendered by

violin, bass viol and fife, immediately struck up ‘Hail to the Chief;’ the

dancers withdrew to each side of the hall, and the whole party, General Houston

and Mrs. Baker leading, and maids bringing up the rear, marched to the upper

end of the room. Having here laid aside wraps and exchanged black slippers for

white ones, for there was no dressing room, they were ready to join in the

dance, which was soon resumed. A new cotillion was formed by the party which

had just entered. General Houston and Mrs. Baker were partners, Mrs. Lubbock

and Mr. George Cruger, and Mr. Lubbock and Miss Harris. Then were the solemn

figures of the stately cotillion executed with care and precision, the grave

balancing steps, the dos a dos, and others to test the nimbleness and grace of

dancers.




“General Houston had just

returned from New Orleans, where he had been since the battle of San Jacinto

for the purpose of having his wound treated. Being the president-elect, he was,

of course, the hero of the day, and his dress on this occasion was unique and

somewhat striking. His ruffled shirt, scarlet cassimere waistcoat and suit of

black silk velvet, corded with gold, was admirably adapted to set off his fine,

tall figure; his boots, with short red tops, were laced and folded down in such

a way as to reach but little above the ankles, and were finished at the heels

with silver spurs. The spurs were, of course, quite a useless adornment, but

they were in those days so commonly worn as to seem almost a part of the boots.

The weakness of General Houston's ankle, resulting from the wound he had

received in the battle of San Jacinto, was his reason for substituting boots

for the slippers then universally worn by the gentlemen for dancing.




“Mrs. Baker's dress of white

satin, with black lace overdress, corresponded in elegance with that of her

escort, and the dresses of most of the other ladies were likewise rich and

tasteful. Some wore white mull with satin trimmings; others were dressed in

white and colored satins, but naturally in so large an assembly, gathered from

so many different places, there was a great variety in the quality of the costumes.

All, however, wore their dresses short, cut low in the neck, sleeves generally

short, and all wore ornaments of flowers or feathers in their hair, some

flowers of Mexican manufacture, being particularly noticeable on account of

their beauty and rarity.




“At about midnight the signal for

supper was given, and the dancers marched over to the hotel of Mr. Ben Fort

Smith, which stood near the middle of the block, later for so long a time

occupied by the Hutchins House. This building consisted of two very large

rooms, built of pine poles, laid up like a log house, with a long shed

extending the full length of the rooms. Under this shed, quite innocent of

floor or carpet, the supper was spread; the tempting turkeys, venison, cakes

and other viands displayed in rich profusion; the excellent coffee and

sparkling wines invited all to partake freely, and soon the witty toast and

hearty laugh went round.




“Returning to the ball room,

dancing was resumed with renewed zest, and continued until the energy of the

musicians began to flag, and the prompter failed to call out the figures with

his accustomed gusto. Then the cotillion gave place to the time honored

Virginia Reel and by the time each couple had enjoyed the privilege of ‘going

down the middle,’ daylight began to dawn.”




The above description was written

some years after the event, but has reproduced its quaintness, dignity and

strange charm with great effect and contains vastly more of human interest than

the work of the average society editor in writing up latter-day festivities.




Even that memorable ball,

however, was not permitted to be without a reminder that Houston was on the

frontier. Among the guests present were the Misses Cooper, and while the dance

was in progress news came that their brother had been killed by Indians on the

Colorado River.




A little over a year later, on

May 21, 1838, there was a grand ball at the Jockey Club, at which we are told

the ladies' tickets were printed on white satin and Mrs. Briscoe danced

successively with Generals Sam Houston, Albert Sidney Johnson and Sidney

Sherman.




Before Houston was a year old it

had a theatre and before it was three years old it had two. The first theatre

was on the site now occupied by Henke's store between Louisiana and Milam

Streets on Congress Avenue. One of the early plays was “The Dumb Girl of

Genoa,” which was played so badly that one of the actors by the name of Carlos

was hung in effigy on the limb of a large pine tree in front of the hall.




Henry Corri was the manager of a

company that came from New Orleans to Houston in 1838. It played the “School

for Scandal,” and other plays. The newspapers at that remote date were cruel

enough to sometimes criticise plays harshly and not give mere press agent

notices and boosts according to the prevalent custom now. When it was rumored

that one of the actors had been bitten by a mad dog the Morning Star said the

report was too good to be true, but suggested that in such case the company

might produce Hamlet, King Lear or Othello so as to give room for his newly acquired

ability in madness. The press agent sometimes got in his work however in

thoroughly approved style as witness the following from the Morning Star:

“Engagement of April 29, 1839. Unprecedented! Unparallelled! Unheard of

Attractions!!!! First night of the ‘Ensanguined Shirt.’ First appearance of

High P. Ranter, who is engaged for six nights only and can not possibly be

re-engaged on account of sickness in the family (who was sick or the nature of

the illness does not appear) First appearance of Miss F. Ranter since her

recovery from the whooping cough. First night of the real earthquake! Grand

Fancy Dress Breakdown on a Cellar Door by Miss S. Swipes. This piece has been

got up without regard to expense, weather or anything else. An amount of

property has been invested in properties which frightens the manager and will

astonish the public. Among other things which have been secured especially for

this piece are 400 streaks of lightning with thunder to match and 300 alligator

skin shields with brass knuckles and knobs.”




The press agent apparently had

not, like Miss Ranter, recovered from the whooping cough, but the appetite for

amusements must be jaded indeed that does not respond with a gustatory quiver

to the delights here promised.




Edwin Booth and other great

actors are said to have visited Houston at an early date and with dancing,

horse-back riding and racing and “swopping,” whittling, romancing in

Leatherstocking wise of Mexicans and “Injins,” and the delights of the theatre

and of electing everybody to office, times were not hopelessly dull in the

Houston of the days of the Republic.




 


















 




CHAPTER III - Houston and

the Red Men




 




Sam Houston and the Cherokees.

An Indian Dance. Letters from Chiefs John Jolly and Bowles. Houston's Indian

Talk. Fate of Cherokees and Comanches.




 




Untouched by the stain of

bloodshed in Indian warfare, Houston stands almost isolated among the cities of

Texas. No savage massacre ever occurred in its environs and the inhabitants of

the town were never in the frontier days startled by the blood curdling

warhoop. Yet Houston, especially that part now known as the fifth ward, was a

favorite camping ground of the Indians and the complete immunity from attack

was perhaps due first of all to the influence of Sam Houston and second to the

fact that Houston occupied a place near the center of the several settlements.




Sam Houston, be it remembered,

was an Indian chief, an adopted member of the Cherokee nation. He had won his

first wounds and his earliest laurels in bloody Indian warfare, but he had also

been a member of the Indian tribes, had lived in the forests and adopted their

customs and spoke their tongue. He had been later a commissioner for their

interests at Washington, D. C., and to this day there exists in Houston the

commission or passport given to “General Sam Houston” by the United States

Government in which he is commended to all Indian tribes. That was before he

came to Texas but even as president of the new nation he never forgot his

friendship for the Indians and his policy was always one of justice and

conciliation to all the tribes and especially to the Cherokees.




Early in May, 1837, a day or two

after the opening of the Second Congress and within a few days of the time when

General Houston, as president elect, arrived in the city named in his honor, we

find him in conference with a number of Indians at Houston. The interview is

thus reported in the Philadelphia Morning Chronicle of that time, by its

Houston correspondent: “Several tribes of Indians being encamped in the splendid

forest which covers the undulating ground on the opposite side of Buffalo

Bayou, where the city is situated, a ‘big talk’ was arranged with the

president, General Sam Houston, and the cabinet of Texas, at which Mr. Crawford

(the special representative of the British Government) was invited to be

present.




“The ‘talk’ was held in the White

House of Texas, General Houston's residence, then a long cabin consisting of a

passage or hall open at both ends, and a room of very moderate dimensions on

each end.




“On the anniversary of the battle

of San Jacinto (April 21st, 1837) a lofty flagstaff had been erected on Main

street, and on this occasion a splendid silk flag of the new Republic was for

the first time displayed from it. Around this flag several hundred Indians and

squaws danced a grand war dance. They began moving around the center like so

many radii, as is done in the flower dance when represented on the stage,

accompanying the movement in a dull and monotonous sort of music of their own

voices, which became quicker and quicker until they got into a very rapid

motion with occasional shouts and yells, and then all at once stopped and

suddenly dispersed.




“After this the chiefs adjourned

to the ‘talk.’ These consisted of some six elderly and very sedate, grave

gentlemen, who were seated around a table and communicated through an

interpreter. The latter appeared a very intelligent, middle-aged man, and

seemed to possess the implicit confidence of the chiefs.




“General Houston acquitted

himself with his usual tact on such occasions, and aroused a real enthusiasm by

his ‘talk’ to the red men. But nothing can be done towards treating with

Indians without presents, so next comes that most important part of the whole

ceremony. 




“In the afternoon the presents

were delivered and instant distribution began, each carrying away his share.

Tobacco seemed, of all the articles they received, to be the most esteemed.

Drunkenness then began, and at last General Houston had to send around to the

liquor stores to request that no more whiskey be sold, which had the effect of

inducing them quietly to retire to their camp, but the woods rang nearly all

night with their yells.”




Some of these Indians were wild

Comanches from the West and on their way back home they killed and scalped several

whites. Not only Mr. Crawford, an agent of the British minister to Mexico who

had come on a secret mission, but probably also Alcee La Branche, the United

States Charge d'affaires, and R. J. Walker of Mississippi, the first mover of

Texas independence in the United States Senate, saw that Indian war dance, for

both were in Houston at the time.




Among General Houston's private

letters the writer found several documents of great interest including a letter

from John Jolly, chief of Houston's own tribe of Cherokees, a communication

from Chief Bowles, the head of the Texas Cherokees and addressed to “All my

White Friends,” and one of Houston's famous Indian talks in his own handwriting

and with his own signature and written in the stately form of a ceremonial

state paper. As the two latter throw direct light on Houston's methods of

dealing with the Indians and his attitude toward them, and as they have never,

so far as is known, been published, they are here reproduced from the originals

in the possession of Hon. Frank Williams, General Houston's grandson in this

city. This is an extract from the John Jolly letter:




 




“Mouth of the Illinoie.




27 March, 1838. 




“Dear Friend:




“I wish you would write and give

me all the news and the prospects of your country and what disposition your

government will make towards the Red People, and if the Cherokees 




 




will have a country set apart for

them and be supported in their rights by your government.




Your friend, (Signed) John

Jolly.”




 




The “Indian Talk” is dated

October, 1838, and is typical of General Houston's methods. In structure and

theme it smacks of the Old Testament. Here is the full text of the talk:




 




“My Brothers:




“There is much talk of war. It is

useless. There is no sense in it. I know that my brothers, the Alabamos and

Coosatties, will not deceive me. A few bad men may have gone from amongst you

and been killed with the enemy. This shall not destroy your band. Remember the

words which I have spoken to you.




“The little chiefs of the Texas

nation shall not hurt you. My words have been spoken and the winds shall not

scatter them. Remember me and be happy with your women and children. Winter is

coming and cold weather and you may be unhappy unless with your women and

children. Stay with them until the spring comes and you shall receive a talk

from the chief of this nation. You must not take up the tomahawk. Nor will I

allow other men to raise it against you.




“I send to you wise men to give

you counsel. Listen to them and walk in the path they direct. Tell your young

men to stay at home that they may not bring your nation into trouble. Old men

speak wisdom and young men should pursue their counsel.




“He that stops his ears against

instruction is a fool and the wise men of his nation should punish him.




“There is a light from the

countenance of the Great spirit upon the good man when he walketh in the

straight path. But brush and darkness falleth in the way of him that walketh

the path of crookedness.




(Signed) Sam Houston.”




 




The Texas Indians consisted of

the wild Indians, the most warlike of which were the Comanches, yet comprising

a score of other tribes, and the semi-civilized Indians or the Cherokees and 12

associate tribes who had crossed the Texas border and occupied the territory

lying north of the San Antonio road and the Neches and west of Sabine and

Angelina. These Cherokees claimed the land they occupied. The Consultation of

San Felipe, in 1835, recognized these claims and a resolution was signed by the

entire body to secure the Cherokees in these rights and to have their

boundaries established.




General Houston, Col. John Forbes

and others as commissioners met the Cherokee chiefs, Bowles, Big Mush and

others, at the Cherokee village on February 23, 1836, and entered into a

boundary treaty with them. This was never ratified by the Texans. The Cherokees

felt that they had been treated in bad faith and entered into negotiations with

the Mexicans which the Texans discovered and this ultimately led to the

expulsion of the Cherokees, the killing of Bowles and the driving of 4,000

Indians from the border. The Texans showing perhaps fully as much cruelty,

treachery and bad faith as the Indians.




One of Houston's last acts as

president had been to instruct Colonel Alexander Horton to survey this

boundary. This was in 1838 and the work was done at least in part.




President Lamar distrusted the

Cherokees and all Indians and his policy was one of warfare, a policy that

appealed far more to the fighting Texans than the William Penn policy of peace

and equity pursued by Houston. Many land speculators coveted the Cherokee lands

which Houston tried to save for the state after the Indians had been driven

out.




There were atrocities sufficient

to justify the whites and Indians alike in feeling that the other side was

dangerous and treacherous and the war of extermination was taken up in earnest

after Houston left the presidency for the first time, with bloody results on

both sides. When a short time later the Comanche chiefs were massacred at San

Antonio in the pocket of Chief Muke-warrah was found a copy of Houston's treaty

of 1838.




The only part played by the City

of Houston in the Indian wars was in furnishing troops, the Milam Guards

participating in more than one hard campaign.




The general sentiment of nearly

every early Texan was that the only good Indian or good Mexican was a dead one,

and they reformed them at every opportunity. These conversions were lasting.

Save those negotiations that were conducted from Houston as the capital of the

Republic from the spring of 1837 to the fall of 1839, the Indian history of

blood and battle belongs to the history of Texas and not to that of Houston.
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John Allen's trump card in

founding Houston was that he intended to make it the capital of the Republic of

Texas. It would seem a large ambition but the Allen brothers not only announced

this as a purpose but carried it out within a year from the time the deed was

recorded for the site on which the city was to stand.




They had to catch the capital on

the wing, as it were, for it seemed to be very fugacious in disposition. Santa

Anna had gotten the capital into the habit of jumping and it had never gotten

over the habit. San Felipe de Austin, Washington, Harrisburg, Galveston,

Velasco, and Columbia had all enjoyed the fleeting honor.




The first Congress of the

Republic, on December 15, 1836, selected the new town of Houston as the seat of

government. It was intended that it should remain here until 1840, but it only

lasted until the fall of 1839.




The capital building was to be

erected under the supervision of Col. Thomas W. Ward and was to contain 22

rooms. He commenced it in April, 1837 and in 14 days had it ready for occupancy

making a record job as a contractor and architect.




About the first of May, the

Congress arrived and the second session of Congress of the Republic was held in

Houston. General Houston made a brilliant inaugural address and the town was

filled with visitors. The site of the capitol building was that of the Rice

Hotel and was then far out on the prairie.




With the capital came, as has

been noted, the Telegraph from Columbia, and the Morning Star and the

Intelligencer soon followed suit. Houston was provided from the beginning with

newspapers enough to represent the several dissonant views of the ambitious

political experts and statesmen who controlled her destiny.




General Houston's office was a

small log house on Franklin Street and his residence a clapboard house of two

rooms built for him by Captain R. P. Boyce, another noted contractor and

builder of the day.




The recognition of the

independence of Texas by the United States, news of which had recently arrived;

the unsatisfactory condition of the finances of the land law; the information

that Northern Indians had visited Matamoras and offered Mexico 3,000 warriors if

it would resume the war; praise for the army and its general, Albert Sidney

Johnston; the need of a navy; and the resources of Texas and her ability to

maintain her independence; were emphasized in the inaugural address.




Perhaps in deference to Mr.

Crawford, the British representative, who occupied an honored position in the

hall, the president commented on the iniquity of the African slave trade and

its prohibition by Texas.




In the session that followed, the

government of the republic and its various departments were organized and their

power defined, a general land office was established, the public debt was

consolidated and funded, and all the islands of the Republic, including

Galveston, were offered for sale. The western boundary of the Republic was fixed

definitely at the Rio Grande and the Cordova rebellion of Mexicans and Indians

was suppressed. The Texas Railroad Navigation and Banking Company was

incorporated with a capital of $5,000,000 but never went into existence because

of the inability to pay into the treasury $25,000 in gold or silver.




Houston pursued a policy of

peaceful negotiations with the Indians wherever possible and of diplomatic

handling of negotiations to secure recognition from foreign countries. A

commercial treaty with England was announced on January 4, 1838, by General

Henderson, who had gone to England and France, in 1837, as Envoy Extraordinary

with powers pleni-potentiary.




M. de Saligny, as the

representative of the French government, visited Houston in the spring of 1838,

and on May 13, of that year Admiral Baudin with a French fleet, stopped at the

ports of Galveston and Velasco. At Galveston, Baudin returned the salute gun

for gun until 22 guns, the national salute, had been fired. The Admiral visited

Houston and was received with great ceremonies and it was on his report that

France soon after acknowledged by treaty the new Republic.




Mirabeau B. Lamar, himself a hero

of San Jacinto and a man of brilliant personal traits and no mean degree of

statesmanship, succeeded Houston as president, and was installed in office in

December, 1838. He was an anti-annexationist and favored close relationships

with Great Britain. The failure of the United States to grant annexation when

it was first sought had roused the pride of Texas and thenceforth the

annexationists had to fight to a certain extent under cover. This pride was so

strong that within two years' time Texas ceased all attempts to secure

recognition and from then on the overtures came from the United States. Lamar,

in his first annual message, said, that “To Great Britain the independence of

Texas could not be an indifferent event.”




Lamar favored pressing the war

against Mexico and a drastic policy toward the Indians. Texas was in a position

where Mexico could not successfully attack her and could not hope to regain her

lost province but Texas was still less in condition to successfully attack

Mexico. Under Lamar the Comanches were severely punished and the Cherokees were

expelled from the state.




By an act approved January 4, 1839,

actual settlers coming to Texas, under appropriate conditions, were to receive

grants of 640 acres each. This offer was to hold until January 1, 1840. It

encouraged imigration to Houston as well as elsewhere in Texas.




England refused to acknowledge Texas'

independence in 1839, owing somewhat to O'Connell's attack on Texas as a

country where slavery was permitted. This inflamed sentiment in Texas against

England and the Houston papers fulminated against O'Connell. The Morning Star

said editorially: “We shall always oppose any foreign protection or assistance

that may be predicated upon the slightest interference with our domestic

institutions as they now are.”




By an ordinance of April 12,

1839, passed by the city council of Houston slaves found on the streets after 8

o'clock in the evening, were to receive from 10 to 30 lashes. No free negroes

were allowed to live in Houston. The government passed rigid laws forbidding

any intermarriage between white people and those of African descent, a law

which was especially praised by the British consul to Texas, Mr. Ikin, in a

booklet called “Texas,” published in London in 1841, in which the purity of the

Anglo Saxon race is contrasted with that of the Latin races which have become

mongrelized in America by intermarriage with negroes and Indians.




On September 25, 1839, Marshal

Soult for France, signed with Mr. Henderson the treaty of amity, navigation and

commerce, Marshal Soult, who was also Duke of Dalmatia, saying he was proud to

be the European god-father of the new Republic.




This was the last event of

international importance that occurred while the capital remained in Houston

for in the fall of 1839 the archives were loaded on thirty wagons and removed

to Austin, the new capital. Houston was greatly aggrieved at the change and

President Lamar, who was supposed to favor it, came in for a large share of

local criticism. Sam Houston also opposed the change as Austin was then on the

Indian frontier and some stirring chapters of Texas history were made by the

old General's subsequent attempt to move the archives and the capital away from

Austin.




On November 16, 1840, Lord

Palmerston, at London, signed with General Henderson, the treaty by which

England recognized the independence of Texas and a similar treaty was signed at

the Hague about that time.




The Santa Fe expedition in 1841,

was participated in by many Houstonians and Mr. Kendall of the New Orleans

Picayune, who was one of those making the trip, has a vivid chapter on Houston

and her horse market, in which the Milam Guards are greatly praised. Kendall's

book was published in 1845. Houstonians also participated in the Mier

expedition that followed, but the fate of neither of these can be considered

local history.




Whenever there was a threat of a

Mexican invasion, Houston promptly supplied her quota of soldiers, furnishing

on one occasion two companies of mounted infantry equipped by local merchants.




Great Britain evinced a lively

interest in Texas from the first and had planned to control this country either

as a colony, a protectorate, or by close treaties. Between 1840 and 1845

England's plans were enlarged to purchase California, and press England's

claims to Oregon that would bring that boundary down to within 45 miles of

territory claimed by Texas and thus control the entire Pacific slope of the

United States.




Some wise men in Texas and in the

United States understood her diplomacy. She prevented Mexico's acknowledging

the independence of Texas until it was offered as the price of Texas staying

out of the American Union. The United States also waked up to the fact that the

Monroe doctrine was in danger and the great presidential campaign of 1844 was

waged on the democratic platform of “Polk and Dallas, Texas and Oregon 54°, 40′

or fight.”




With the United States as the

suitor, Texas agreed to come into the Union rejecting, at the same convention,

the counter proposition from Great Britain of English friendship, and Mexican

recognition of her independence.




George Fisher, one of Houston's

most noted citizens, diplomats and soldiers, a Hungarian by birth, saw

England's plan most clearly and in a letter, dated, Houston, January 2, 1844,

and published in the Madisonian at Washington, February 5, he points out the

English menace to the Monroe doctrine.




In a dissertation, written in

German and published at the University of Berlin in 1902, the editor of this

history has discussed at length the plans of England and other countries in

regard to Texas. The title of the book is “Die Annexion von Texas, ein Beitrag

zur Geschichte der Monroe Doctrin.”




As soon as Texas saw that the

United States was in deep earnest at last, sentiment for annexation became

strong again. An annexation mass meeting was held in Houston with Hon. M. P.

Norton, chairman, George H. Bringhurst and A. M. Gentry, secretaries, and the

following committee on resolutions: J. W. Henderson, Francis Moore, Jr., W. M.

McCraven, F. R. Lubbock, J. Bailey, A. Wynns, J. W. Brashear, T. B. J. Hadley,

T. M. Bagby, William M. Rice, C. M. McAnnelly, M. T. Rodgers, M. K. Snell, H.

Baldwin, S. S. Tompkins and John H. Brown. The committee resolved: “That in

exchanging our present political position for that of a sovereign state of the

American Union, we shall indeed be merging the beams of our single star, but

only that it may acquire new and increased splendor from the more full and

pervading light of a glorious constellation, as certain planets are said to

withdraw themselves from view when they become illumined in a group of great

stars.”




By the time the vote came on

annexation and the constitution which occurred on October 13, 1845, the

sentiment was so certain that many stayed away from the polls in full

confidence as to how the choice would be made. The vote of Harris County was

for annexation, 321, of which number 241 votes were cast in Houston; against

annexation 50, of which number 44 ballots were cast in Houston; for the

Constitution 299, against the Constitution 68. Texas had returned to her

father's house. The Harris County delegates to the Constitutional convention of

1845 were Isaac W. Brashear, Alexander McGowen and Francis Moore, Jr. Its first

state senator was Isaac W. Brashear and its first representatives Peter W. Gray

and J. N. O. Smith. The lone star had yielded to the sweet influences of the

Pleides.
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Houston's Pioneer Churches.
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The first evangelistic sermon

ever preached in Houston, according to Dr. B. F. Riley, sometime pastor of the

First Baptist church of this city, in his “History of Texas Baptists,” was by

Rev. Z. N. Morrell. Rev. Mr. Morrell and an aged companion, Rev. R. Marsh,

reached Texas in 1835 as Baptist missionaries. Both came to Houston shortly

after it was founded. In the general rush for Texas many preachers were

included some of whom had come for other reasons than the good of the cause. To

guard against ministerial frauds and imposters a meeting was held in the office

of Dr. Marsh in Houston on May 8, 1837, while the first Congress to meet here

was in session and a preachers' vigilance committee was organized. On the

committee, besides the two named, were W. W. Hall, a Kentucky Presbyterian, and

three Methodists, W. P. Smith, of Tennessee; L. I. Allen, of New York, and H.

Matthews, of Louisiana. The committee pledged itself to recognize no preacher

coming from the United States or elsewhere, unless he brought with him

testimonials of good character.




Rev. Littleton Fowler, a

Methodist minister of piety and zeal was among the early ministerial arrivals.

He was elected Chaplain of the Senate in the fall of 1837.




Mr. Fowler obtained as a gift

from the Allens the title to the half block of ground on Texas Avenue between

Travis and Milam Streets formerly occupied by the old Shearn church, but now

occupied by the New Majestic Theatre and the Chronicle building. It was deeded

in 1837. 




Rev. William Y. Allen, a

Presbyterian minister, acted as Chaplain of Congress for a time in 1838 and

often preached at the capitol during 1838 and 1839.




Rev. Edward Fountain preached to

an unorganized Methodist congregation in Houston in 1838.




The first Sunday School was

established in Houston in 1838. It seems to have been largely

interdenominational as no churches were then organized. This Sunday School had

an average attendance of 100.




David G. Burnett was elected

president of the Texas Bible Society which was organized in 1838. Mr. Burnett

had been the first President of the Republic and was President when Houston was

founded.




The first evangelical church

formally organized in Houston was of the Presbyterian faith and the

organization was effected on the last day of March, 1838, by Rev. William Y.

Allen in the Senate chamber of the capitol building. The following names were

signed to the Presbyterian Confession of Faith, and church government, that was

then adopted: James Burke, who was the first ruling elder, A. B. Shelby, J.

Wilson Copes, Isabella R. Parker, Ed Belden, Marian Shelby, James Bailey, Sarah

Woodward, Jennett Smith, Harris G. Avery, and Sophia B. Hodge. Mr. Allen

continued as pastor of this church until 1842. The church built by this

congregation was not finished until late in 1840. It was located on Main

Street, between Texas and Capitol Avenues, and was destroyed by fire in 1862.




On March 16, 1839, Christ church

of the Episcopal faith was organized. On April 1, the first board of vestrymen

was selected as follows: William F. Gray, John Birdsall, M. Hunt, A. F.

Woodward, James Webb, William Pierpont, Tod Robinson, E. S. Perkins, D. W. C.

Harris, J. D. Andrews, C. Kessler and George Allen. The first church edifice on

the site of the present church was consecrated in 1847 by the Right Reverend

George W. Freeman, Missionary Bishop of the West. The site of the Church was donated

by the Allens.




In May, 1839, Bishop Leonidas

Polk visited Houston on a tour of the Republic. 




The First Baptist church in

Houston was organized on May 22, 1841, by Rev. James Huckins, who had come to

Houston under the auspices of the Home Mission Society of New York. The

Baptists had no meeting house of their own until 1847, when the efforts of a

few noble women and of Elder Tryon at last secured one.




Mrs. Nathan Fuller, wife of Col.

Nathan Fuller, and Mrs. P. L. Hadley were prominent in the group of women who

secured the church building.




When Rev. Littleton Fowler, the

Methodist minister, preached in the capitol at Houston in 1837 he found in the

city “gaming and vice and any number of doggeries,” but no churches. Mr. Fowler

was an ardent mason and later helped to organize the Grand Lodge of Texas in

the Capitol building.




Abel Stevens was appointed to the

Galveston and Houston circuit on December 3, 1838, but did not take up the

work. During 1839, Rev. L. G. Hoard and Rev. Jesse Strickland preached several

times in Houston. On December 4, 1839, Rev. Edward Fountain was appointed

preacher in charge for Houston and Galveston, but worked almost exclusively in

Houston during the year 1840. On Christmas day, 1840, T. O. Summers was

appointed in charge of Houston and Galveston. In Houston he preached in an

upper room, over a store, on Capitol Avenue between Milam and Louisiana

Streets. In 1841, Rev. Mr. Summer organized the first permanent Methodist

church in Houston, for a long time known as Shearn church, but now bearing the

name of the First Methodist church. Among the early members were C. Shearn, D.

Gregg, A. H. Sharp, Mrs. Campbell, Mrs. Winn, (a daughter of Dr. Ruter,) Mrs.

Mixon, E. D. Johnson, John H. Walton, Mosely Baker, Dr. John L. Bryan, Mrs. Bryan,

Mr. and Mrs. Andrew McGowan, H. Tracy, A. Crawford, Francis Moore McCrea, C.

Dikeman and G. S. Hardcastle. The history of this church has been well compiled

by Mrs. I. M. E. Blandin of Houston.




Abbé Domenech, who was in Houston

in July, 1848, makes an ugly little remark in his book, “Missionary Adventures

in Texas and Mexico,” that has become famous. He says: “Houston is a wretched

little town composed of about 20 shops and a hundred huts dispersed here and

there among trunks of felled trees. It is infested with Methodists and ants.”

The only thing the Abbé tells of Houston besides this statement is the story of

his fight with the ants, these insects causing him much tribulation.




Many enterprising missionaries

and clerics of the Catholic faith visited Houston during the early days and a

congregation was early formed. It flourished and erected its first building in

1841. This congregation was and is known as the Church of the Annunciation and

has played a large part in the religious history of Houston.
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Such an accumulation of

individual cells is a town, so gradually does it grow, and by such processes of

accretion, and so persistently do the newspapers and periodicals of any period

overlook that which is distinctive and of the deepest interest to subsequent

generations as being a mere matter of course, that it is difficult to trace the

hues of a city's growth.




Here and there however, events

are recorded which, if they will not exactly serve as milestones on the highway

of progress are at least indications of the direction in which progress was

made as the stones and gravel mark the path of vanished glaciers.




When John Allen cut with his

bowie knife the coffee bean weeds from what he had marked out as Main Street, a

mere muddy pathway that ran down to a muddy bayou's bank, he was tracing a

highway that was one day to be a canyon between skyscrapers and both his faith

and his works speedily began to be justified.




To his tent town there came, on

January 1, 1837, the first steamer, the “Laura,” commanded by Captain Grayson,

with a full load of settlers and immigrants, some of them men of fame already

and others to achieve it in the new country of Texas.




In April, of that year, the

capitol was moved and the capitol building was constructed and a kind of

gubernatorial hut was erected on Travis Street at the spot now occupied by the

Trimble laundry.




On April 21, the schooner

“Rolla,” after spending four days on the route from Harrisburg to Houston,

arrived. This was the first sailing vessel to reach the new town. She had a

cargo consigned to Allen Brothers, and was chartered by Messrs Dykeman and

Westcott and had made the water voyage from St. Joseph, Florida. Her numerous

passengers attended the famous anniversary ball in the Carlos building.




The arrival of the Telegraph from

Columbia and the founding of the Morning Star gave Houston two good newspapers.

Jack Eldinge, poet and editor was one of the early promoters of the Morning

Star, which changed hands often during the first few years of its existence.




In the fall of 1837, the first

two-story dwelling house was built in Houston by Judge A. C. Briscoe on the

corner of Main Street and Prairie Avenue. Later it was for many years the home

of Dr. I. S. Roberts. The only other two-story buildings that year were the

court house and the capitol.




In the spring of 1838, one of the

papers says that Houston has 400 inhabitants and pine stumps on Main Street.

During the year, ice was advertised for sale at the cut rate of fifty cents a

pound.




A petition, signed by many

voters, appears in the Telegraph of October 11, 1837, asking that something be

done to remedy the muddy condition of the streets around the capitol and the

President's house.




The year 1839 was in many

respects a hard year. During that year New Orleans refused credit to the

merchants, the first yellow fever epidemic visited Houston and caused many

deaths, and on September 15, of that year, the moving of the capital to Austin

was begun.




In May of that year the first

regular board of health was appointed by the city council and a short time

later a city hospital was created and the cost and upkeep of this hospital was

a large item of city expenditure for the year. From July 1 to December 31,

1839, there were 240 deaths in Houston, mostly from yellow fever, out of a

population given as 2,000. Yellow fever raged in New Orleans, Galveston and

Houston and ravaged the Texas coast. Its mosquito origin was not then known but

all early settlers noticed its relation to ditches, filth and bodies of

stagnant water. Dr. Ashbel Smith also noted that a fall of temperature checked

its spread. A norther, on November 20, when the mercury fell to 40 degrees

Farenheit, put an end to the plague.




The fourth of July, of 1839, was

celebrated jointly by the Sunday School and the new military company, the Milam

Guards. There were 70 in attendance at the Sunday School. Rev. William Y. Allen

read Deuteronomy, sixth chapter; J. R. Read spoke for the Sabbath School; J. W.

Eldridge read the Declaration of Independence and D. Y. Portiss spoke for the

Guards. It was a curious joint celebration of another nation's holiday.




During the year the treasury

notes of the Republic, known as “red backs,” fell to fifty cents on the dollar.

They later fell as low as ten cents on the dollar. Mexico was threatening an

invasion but not much heed was paid to this threat by Texas although it

fulfilled its intention of hurting the credit of the new nation abroad.




The first flour brought to the

new city had sold for $30 a barrel, in gold, but the price had materially

fallen although all flour was imported, but now in the depreciated currency a

barrel of flour cost $80; a beef, the same; corn meal was $8 a bushel; corn, $4

per hundred ears; sugar, 42 cents a pound, and other prices in proportion.

Famine and bankruptcy threatened the town. Some of the early merchants were

Dowell and Adams, F. R. Lubbock, William D. Lee, Tom League, T. W. House,

Cruger and Moon, and Sam Whitney, also proprietor of the Telegraph. The

newspapers published each day lists of current prices and also of New Orleans

rates on money. 




All the New Orlenas bank notes

sold below par but the bank notes of McKinney and Williams, bankers at

Galveston, remained at par and furnished a striking tribute to the credit and

solidity of a Texas institution.




On December 24, 1839, the

newspapers note with pride that some brick sidewalks have made their appearance

on Main Street. During the same month they complained of the rotten wooden city

bridges and of the effluvia, arising from the neglected market place.




Probably the first book ever

published in Houston, and certainly the first book, a copy of which is to be

found in the city's library, was published in Houston in 1839. It is called

“General Regulations for the Government of the Army of the Republic of Texas,”

and contains 187 pages and shows creditable press work and also well formulated

military regulations. It was published in the office of the Houston

Intelligencer. In the next few years advertisements for printers and

bookbinders make their appearance in the papers.




In 1840 the tide of prosperity

again slowly turned Houston-ward which had suffered severely in temper and

resources from the removal of the capital.




On February 3, of that year, the

newspapers advocate a line of stages to Austin which was soon after

inaugurated. During the month of February a Brazoria man was appointed post

master at Houston. This was regarded as the crowning insult and the subject

furnished a controversy that lasted for months.




Bids were received in February to

construct a wharf from the foot of Main Street to the foot of Fannin Street,

and on February 26, there was a curious organization formed known as the

“Anti-Rat Society,” headed by John W. Eldridge. Its purpose was not to attack

the head ornaments of the women but the rodents that swarmed everywhere in the

town so as to be a pest.




Houston's first Chamber of

Commerce was organized on April 5, with E. S. Perkins as president. An

advertisement of that month, notes that 20 barrels of whiskey have been

received for sale by one firm and others had large consignments of the same

insinuating beverage. The Morning Star complains on April 20, of the rowdies

and black legs who make life intolerable by their carouses and fights and two

days later dragged these offenders over the coals again in an article beginning

“We are informed that some of the black leg gentry took offense at our

remarks.” The thugs and rowdies were handled without gloves by the paper and

during the year a warm campaign in favor of temperance and against the use of

whiskey in the Houston climate was waged by it.




A new military company, known as

the Dragoons, was organized in April, 1840. On April 23, one of the papers

tells of a tall lank stranger who visited the city and wrote after his name the

letters P. O. P. S. F. C. The stranger was asked the meaning of the letters and

said they were an abbreviation of his title, which, on request he gave as

“Professor of Psalmody and School-master from Connecticut.” The professor

however did not participate in the first concert given in Houston on May 1, by

Emil Heerbrugger at which solos were rendered on the piano, the violin and the

French horn.




A gentleman by the name of Louis,

of France, opened a fencing school but found some difficulty in persauding the

citizens to abandon the bowie knife for the rapier as a means of settling difficulties

and smoothing out wrinkles in a sensitive honor. News of Filisola's invasion

and of Burleson's campaign against the Lipans appeared in the papers.




The papers lament the slow mails.

This is a characteristic complaint of the period: “Pleasant—To have the United

States Mail lay at Galveston two days after its arrival, to have it put on

board the slowest boat that runs on the bayou and to have that boat lay three

days on Red Fish Bar.”




Shallow water on Cloppers Bar

delayed passenger traffic and the mails, and it was suggested that if all the

boats would drop bouys along the line of the channel over this bar that boats

always passing in the same track would rub a channel deep enough for convenient

passage and that the mud thus rubbed up by the boat bottoms would be washed out

of the way. It was one of the earliest projects for deepening the ship channel.




Henry Stuart Foote traversed the

bayou in 1840, and in his book, published in Philadelphia the following year,

tells of a herd of buffalo on Galveston Bay, of the wonders of water bird life,

the flaming flamingoes, the giant white pelicans, the rice birds, the white and

gray cranes and the eagles. Of the bayou he says: “In view of navigation only,

Buffalo Bayou in connection with Galveston Bay is among the most important

water courses of Texas. To Houston there is a safe and constant steamboat

navigation every day in the year, and for practical purposes this city may be

considered the most inland point of navigation of the country. As evidence of

this fact the city of Houston is among the most flourishing towns in Texas.”



OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849652043.jpg
HENDERSON K. YOAKUM

HISTORY OF TEXAS
1685 - 1846

VOLUME 1





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849643874.jpg
MARK TWAIN
FULLY ILLUSTRATED EDITION

ROUGHING IT





OEBPS/Images/cover.jpeg
BENAJAH H. CARROLL

STANDARD

HISTORY OF
HOUSTON, TEXAS





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849644345.jpg
IGNATIUS DONNELLY

ATLANTIS

THE ANTEDILUVIAN
WORLD





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849646424.jpg
THE MINISTRY
OF HEALING

ELLEN GOULD WHITE





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849651725.jpg
‘CARL VON CLAUSEWITZ






